1998

Joanna Banford and Amber Banford v. David Quinley, and Kaysville City Corporation, and Kaysville City Police Dept. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction to decide this appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §78-2a-3(2)(k). This is a final appeal from an Order of the Second Judicial District Court, in and for Davis County, Utah the Honorable Rodney Page presiding. That final judgment dismissed with prejudice the personal injury claim of Joanna Banford.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did Banford fully comply with the notice of claim provisions of the Utah Governmental Immunity Act by serving the Notice of Claim upon Kaysville's City Finance Director?

2. Was the complaint filed timely as required by the Governmental Immunity Act?

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The issues on appeal involve legal conclusions by the trial court. Those legal conclusions will be given no deference by this Court and will be reviewed for legal correctness. T.R.F. v. Felan, 760 P.2d 138 (Utah Ct. App. 1989).

DETERMINATIVE STATUTORY AUTHORITY

The interpretations of the following statutory provisions are determinative of the issues on appeal. The

language of these designated statutes are set out in the Addendum to this Appellant's Brief, pursuant to Rule 24 (f) (2) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure:

Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-13

Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-15

Utah Code Ann. § 63-37-1

Utah Code Ann. § 68-3-7

Utah Code Ann. § 10-1-104

Rule 6 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the case

This is a personal injury claim, alleging that the City of Kaysville is negligent through the doctrine of Respondeat Superior, and that such negligence was the proximate cause of Joanna Banford's and her daughter Amber's injuries, sustained in an automobile collision with David Quinley, a Kaysville City Police Officer, on February 18, 1995.

B. Course of Proceedings

The complaint was filed in the Second Judicial District Court on February 18, 1997. On June 19, 1997, Defendants Kaysville City Corp., David Quinley and Kaysville City Police Department, moved the court to dismiss the action for lack of jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §63-30-13 (1953), as amended. The court in its ruling on December 17, 1997 dismissed the appellant's complaint for failing to

comply with Utah Code Ann. §63-30-1, et. seq. (1953), as amended.

C. Disposition in the Trial Court

Honorable Rodney Page, Second District Court Judge, granted defendant/appellees Motion to Dismiss on December 17, 1997.

D. Statement of Facts

1. Joanna Banford was the driver of a vehicle involved in an accident on February 18, 1995 in Davis County with her daughter, Amber Banford, as a passenger. (R. 31-82 Pg. 1 ¶ 1)

2. The second vehicle in the collision was driven by David Quinley, a Kaysville City Police Officer, who was on duty at the time of the collision. Officer David Quinley ran a stop sign and collided with the plaintiff's vehicle. (R. 31-82 Pg. 1-2 ¶ 2)

3. The Banford's retained Kenneth L. Sondgeroth, attorney at law of Bullhead City, Arizona in late April/May 1995. (R. 31-82 Pg. 2 ¶ 3)

4. In early April 1995, Brian Jensen, a long time companion of Joanna Banford, attempted to assist in getting Ms. Banford's medical bills paid that were in excess of her own no-fault benefits. Through phone calls, Mr. Jensen spoke to Art Johnson, the mayor of Kaysville City, David Helquist, the Chief of Police of Kaysville City and finally

Dean Storey, Kaysville City Finance Director. Mr. Storey instructed Mr. Jensen to contact Reliance Insurance and shortly thereafter Clay Stephens, the adjuster for Reliance Insurance, contacted Ms. Banford by telephone. At the time of the conversations with Mr. Stephens, the Banfords did not have legal counsel. (R. 31-82, pg. 2 ¶4)

5. Clay Stephens kept in contact for some time after this initial conversation with Joanna Banford and told her to not worry about the bills and to concentrate on her medical recovery from the injuries sustained in the accident. He indicated to her that "their client was at fault" and that the matter could be settled. (R. 31-82, Pg. 2 ¶5)

6. Clay Stephens continued to contact Joanna Banford in an attempt to settle these matters despite being told plaintiff had retained counsel and, at one point, Clay Stephens stated there was no need for attorneys as this case could have been settled without attorneys getting involved. (R.31-82, Pg. 2 ¶6)

7. In subsequent telephone conversations with Joanna Banford, Mr. Stephens attempted to settle the case of Amber Banford and offered the sum of \$12,000.00, less \$3,000.00 no-fault medical benefits with the Banford's being responsible for all other outstanding medical bills and any

remaining funds would be put in a court approved trust account for the benefit of Amber. (R. 31-82, Pg. 2 ¶6)

8. On July 12, 1995, plaintiff by and through her attorney Kenneth L. Sondgeroth, sent a letter to "Kaysville City Corporation re: personal injury of Joanna Banford and Amber Banford; Date of accident: 2/18/95." This letter was directed to "To whom it may concern: We represent Joanna Banford and Amber Banford in their claim for personal injuries sustained in the automobile collision of February 18, 1995. David J. Quinley was driving a vehicle which you owned that was involved in the accident." The letter further went on to request the name of Kaysville City's insurance carrier and to notify their insurance carrier of the accident. (R. 31-82, Pg. 3 ¶ 7)

9. Pursuant to this letter of July 12, 1995, Dean G. Storey, Finance Director of Kaysville City, responded on July 25, 1995. The letter gave Mr. Sondgeroth the name and address of Kaysville City's insurance carrier, Reliance Insurance Company, the city attorney, and the insurance agent for Kaysville City. This letter closed with the line, "Please contact me as the city representative." (R. 31-82, Pg. 3 ¶8)

10. On November 16, 1995 Kenneth L. Sondgeroth wrote directly to Dean Storey, Kaysville City finance director. The main thrust of this letter was the contacts as outlined

above with Clay Stephens, the adjuster for Reliance. Also in this letter, Mr. Sondgeroth stated:

"As you are aware, my office represents both Joanna and Amber Banford in their claims that arose from a vehicle accident with a member of your police force. Clearly, as is evident from the police report, the police officer was grossly negligent and that my clients were nothing but innocent victims... Joanna Banford underwent radical surgery which, while relatively successful, still leaves her quite permanently disabled."

Mr. Sondgeroth's letter further went on:

"Mrs. Banford has incurred significant medical bills as a result of this accident. Some of the bills were paid by her own auto coverage, but significant portions were not . . . Mrs. Banford's injuries for her shattered knee are in excess of \$750,000.00.

Amber Banford was the minor who sustained head injuries in this accident. She continues to suffer from dizziness and other symptoms of head trauma. Mr. Stephens has already made an offer on her damages without knowing the full extent of damages she has incurred.

I know that the mayor of your city has spoken to my clients. He appeared concerned that they be treated well . . . I believe that your city has some influence on Reliance Insurance with respect to the party negotiating on your behalf." (R. 31-82, Pg. 3-4 ¶9)

11. On February 28, 1996, Letisa McKenzie sent a letter to Mr. Sondgeroth stating:

"Please be advised that I have taken over the handling of the above captioned matter. At your earliest convenience I request that you forward copies of your clients medical specials including bills and reports. If your clients are making claims for lost wages, I would also request that forwarding documentation as well. I look forward to working with you on this matter." See attached exhibit 7. (Emphasis added)

A similar follow-up letter was sent to Mr. Sondgeroth from Ms. McKenzie on April 2, 1996. (R. 31-82, Pg. 4 ¶10)

12. During this time period plaintiffs continued to receive medical care and treatment. The final reports were obtained from treating physicians and complete settlement brochures on the plaintiffs were prepared and submitted to Reliance Insurance in January, 1997. (R. 31-82, Pg. 4-5 ¶11)

13. The complaint in this case was filed February 18, 1997. (R. 31-82, Pg. 5 ¶13)

14. By way of letter of April 30, 1997, Reliance Insurance, by and through Letisa McKenzie, denied any and all claims of the plaintiff due to the failure to give notice as required under Utah's Governmental Immunity Act. That letter was followed by the defendants' motion to dismiss for lack of jurisdiction, filed by the defendants on June 19, 1997. (R. 31-82, Pg. 5 ¶14)

15. In the motion to dismiss for lack of jurisdiction, the defendants claimed that the notice to the governmental entity had not been filed in a timely manner and, even if said notice was sufficient under the statute, the complaint against the governmental entity was not filed in a timely manner. (R. 14-30 Pg. 3-7)

16. The plaintiffs filed a memorandum in opposition on July 18, 1997 (R. 31-82) with a reply being submitted by the defense on August 8, 1997. (R. 83-93) Oral argument was

then held and Judge Page wished for further clarification on conflicts between the three day mailing rule of URCP and one day notice of claim pursuant to UCA 63-37-1 (notice of claim deemed filed on same date it is mailed). The plaintiffs then filed a response memorandum to this October 17, 1997 letter on October 22, 1997. (R. 99-116)

17. On December 17, 1997 the trial court issued a ruling on defendants motion to dismiss. The trial court stated that the letter to Dean Storey, city finance director of Kaysville, "substantially complied with the notice requirements of section 63-30-11 of the Governmental Immunity Act." The trial court then went to the question on whether plaintiffs' complaint was filed in a timely manner. The trial court stated:

"The Court, therefore concludes that the Plaintiffs' complaint was not filed within the one year period as required by the Governmental Immunity Act, that does not resolve the case. Plaintiffs have raised an issue of estoppel as a result of the alleged actions of the insurance carrier for the city, and the court concludes that there are questions of fact and issues raised on that issue which preclude the court from granting defendants' motion to dismiss at this time." (R. 117-121)

18. On January 14, 1998 a motion for reconsideration was filed by plaintiffs that included affidavits from attorney Sondgeroth and Jean Ascivedo, Mr. Sondgeroth's secretary, concerning actual dates that the letter of November 16, 1997 was mailed to the city of Kaysville. (R. 141)

19. On January 27, 1998 defendants filed a motion to alter judgments or amend judgment and motion to strike affidavits of Sondgeroth and Ascivedo and accompanying memorandum. (R. 156-158) A reply was then filed February 9, 1998 by plaintiffs. (R. 174-181)

20. On April 24, 1998 the "Ruling on Plaintiff's Motion to Reconsider Court's Ruling on Motion to Dismiss" was issued by the court relying on Larsen vs. Park City, decided March 27, 1998 by the Utah Supreme Court, 339 UAR 17 published March 31, 1998. The trial court below stated that the Larsen case clarified the Governmental Immunity Act. Kaysville is a third class city and, under the statute, the city council of such a city must be given actual notice of the claim. To further clarify its ruling, this Court stated that, "no claim was filed with the governing body as required by statute and case law in the one year period and the claim is barred and the court was without jurisdiction." (R. 189-193)

21. The court further went on to state that there were no grounds for plaintiffs' claim of equitable estoppel or waiver of the notice requirements and that the complaint was dismissed with prejudice. (R. 189-193) Findings and Judgment were submitted by the defendant to the court for signature. That Judgment was signed on May 26, 1998 and docketed on June 2, 1998. (R. 194-196)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Banford has fully complied with the notice provisions of the Utah Governmental Immunity Act. The November 16, 1995 letter satisfies those notice requirements. The facts of this case, as well as Utah Case law, support that the individuals served are appropriate parties to serve under the statute and represent those with authority to administer, control, direct, and manage the affairs of the City of Kaysville. All purposes of the notice provisions of the Act have been satisfied in this case. The July 12, 1995 letter addressed to "Kaysville City Corporation", along with the notice of claim letter addressed to the Dean Storey, the Kaysville City Finance Director, allowed the appropriate governmental entities to investigate and evaluate the claim. The insurance adjuster for the city contacted the appellants, informal discovery had commenced, and settlement negotiations had begun. The trial court's order of Defendant's Motion to Dismiss, subverted the purposes of the Act.

Upon compliance with the notice provisions of the Utah Governmental Immunity Act, appellants did file their complaint within the statutory one year period provided in Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-15 (2). In computing the time under the Act, Rule 6 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure and Utah Code Ann. § 68-3-7 are the controlling authority.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

BANFORD FULLY COMPLIED WITH THE NOTICE OF CLAIM PROVISIONS OF THE UTAH GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITY ACT

Before addressing the City's specific allegations of how Banford's notice of claim filing was defective, a review of the purpose of the notice requirements of the Governmental Immunity Act ("Act") is important. As stated by the Utah Supreme Court in Gallegos v. Midvale, 492 P.2d 1335 (1972), the notice requirements of the Act are designed "to alert the public authority so that a proper and timely investigation of the claim can be made." Id. at 1337. The City cannot argue that purpose was not accomplished in this case. In April 1995, Brian Jensen, a long time companion of Joanna Banford, attempted to assist Joanna in getting all of her bills paid that were above and beyond her own no-fault benefits. In doing so, Mr. Jensen made phone calls to the mayor of Kaysville, the Chief of Police and the City Finance Director. Shortly thereafter, Dean G. Storey, the City Finance Director contacted Mr. Jensen and instructed him to call Clay Stephens, the city insurance carrier's adjuster. Clay Stephens ended up contacting Mr. Jensen and indicated that "their client was at fault," and that the matter could be settled. On July 12, 1995, appellee, by and through her

attorney Kenneth L. Sondgeroth, sent a letter to "Kaysville City Corporation." This letter addressed to whom it may concern, identified appellees counsel and gave notice of the accident and injuries sustained as a result of that accident by Joanna and Amber Banford. Pursuant to that letter, Dean G. Storey, the Finance Director of Kaysville City, responded on July 25, 1995, divulging the name of the City's insurance carrier, the city attorney and the insurance agent. The responding letter closed with the line "Please contact me as the city representative." Clearly, the correspondence and the exchange of information including the July 12, 1995 letter to "Kaysville City Corporation" and the response by the City Finance Director is evidence of the Notice of Claim and the investigation conducted by the City. In Scarborough v. Granite School District, 531 P.2d 480 (Utah 1975), the Supreme Court stated that full compliance with the requirements of the notice of claim statute consists of:

. . . Prior to filing suite, a claim must be filed which (1) is in writing, (2) states the facts and the nature of the claim, (3) is signed by the claimant, (4) is directed and delivered to someone authorized to receive it, and (5) has been filed within the prescribed time.

Banford fully complied with those provisions both in the July 12, 1995 letter her then attorney Sondgeroth wrote to "Kaysville City Corporation", and in a November 16, 1995 letter written directly to Dean Storey, as the "city

representative", which clearly outlined the Banford's claims against the city. Each of those documents was in writing. Each stated the facts and nature of the Banford's claims. The Banford's attorney signed both letters. Both documents were mailed and received by Mr. Storey, who had previously represented on numerous occasions to Joanna Banford and her representatives that he was the "city's representative" and should be contacted as such.

Joanna Banford has fully complied with the notice of claim requirements of the Act. The trial court was correct in its ruling on December 17, 1997 denying the City's Motion to Dismiss, stating that the letter to Dean Storey, city finance director of Kaysville, "substantially complied with the notice requirements of section 63-30-11 of the Governmental Immunity Act".

**A. Banford Has Complied With The Act By
Serving The Notice Of Claim Upon Dean
Storey, City Finance Director.**

The City does not argue that Banford is guilty of no compliance with the notice of claim requirements of Utah Code Ann. §63-30-13. The City argues defective compliance with the notice of claim requirements because the Notice of Claim was not filed with the "governing body" of the City. Banford served her Notice of Claim upon Dean Storey, City Finance Director. The City argues that service on this individual

cannot be deemed service on the "governing body" of the political subdivision.

Utah Code Ann. §63-30-13 provides that a claim against a political subdivision is barred unless notice of claim "is filed with the governing body of the political subdivision within one year after the claim arises. . . ." Decisions of this Court and Utah statutes support that, under the circumstances of this case, Banford has satisfied the notice of claim requirements of Utah Code Ann. §63-30-13. Utah Code Ann. §68-3-2 provides, in pertinent part, as follows:

The rule of the common law that statutes in derogation thereof are to be strictly construed has no application to the statutes of this state. The statutes establish the laws of the state respecting the subjects to which they relate, and their provisions and all proceedings under them are to be liberally construed with a view to effect the objects of the statutes and to promote justice.

Nowhere in the Governmental Immunity Act is the term "governing body" of a political subdivision defined. The City attempts to use a definition of "governing body" set forth in the Utah Municipal Code, Utah Code Ann. §10-1-101 et seq. Utah Code Ann. §10-1-104, however, makes it clear that the definition of "governing body" is limited to "as used in this act". Nowhere in the Utah Municipal Code or in the Utah Governmental Immunity Act has the legislature stated that the definition of "governing body" in the Utah Municipal Act is

applied when construing the term "governing body" as it applies to the Utah Governmental Immunity Act. Certainly, if the legislature had intended for that definition to apply, it could easily have said so. The legislature could just as easily have defined "governing body" in the Governmental Immunity Act itself. The legislature has not done that. In that regard, this case is most similar to the decision of this Court in Brittain v. State of Utah, 882 P.2d 666 (Utah Ct. App. 1994).

In Brittain, the plaintiff pursued claims against the Utah Department of Employment Security and the Utah Division of Facilities, Construction, and Management. Brittain filed notices of claim under Utah Code Ann. §63-30-12 with the Attorney General and the Division of Risk Management. The State filed a motion to dismiss on the ground that Brittain had failed to file a notice of claim with either the Department of Employment Security or the Division of Facilities, Construction, and Management, as required by the Governmental Immunity Act. The statute provides that a notice of claim be filed with the Attorney General and "the agency concerned". Addressing that issue, this Court stated:

Because the term "agency concerned" is not clear on its face, we will interpret the notice requirement of section 63-30-12 in a manner consistent with the overall purpose of the Utah Governmental Immunity Act. As explained by the Utah Supreme Court "[i]t is necessary to consider the policy of the notice

requirement so that in any particular case the facts can be evaluated to determine if the intent of the statute has been accomplished." Stahl v. Utah Transit Authority, 618 P.2d 480, 482 (Utah 1980).

The primary purpose of a notice of claim requirement is to afford the responsible public authorities an opportunity to pursue a proper and timely investigation of the merits of a claim and to arrive at a timely settlement, if appropriate, thereby avoiding the expenditure of public revenue for costly and unnecessary litigation." (Citations omitted).

Id. at 668.

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