1999

# Joanna Banford and Amber Banford v. David Quinley and Kaysville Clty Corp, and Kaysville City Police Department : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

This terse letter hardly constitutes compliance with the above provisions. The letter failed to specify the nature of the claim, facts or damages as mandated by the above section. Because plaintiffs failed to provide the necessary information mandated by U.C.A. § 63-30-11, the court should affirm the judgment of dismissal in this case.

Even if this letter is deemed a sufficient notice of claim, it was not properly served upon the governing body of Kaysville. A letter addressed to “Kaysville City, To Whom It May Concern” is not service upon the governing body.

Indeed, it is difficult to imagine how a letter simply addressed to “Kaysville City, to whom it may concern” can constitute compliance with the act when this court has rejected a much more thorough, albeit misguided, effort that occurred in Bellonio. At least in Bellonio, the claimant addressed the letter to the Airport Authority and City Attorney. Nonetheless, this court held notice insufficient because the notice was not filed with the city council.

C. The Letter of November 16, 1995, Does Not Comply with the Act.

The letter of November 16, 1995, sent to Dean Storey, City Finance Director does not constitute strict compliance with the Act. The letter of November 16, 1995, is no more a notice of claim than any other letter sent between July 5, 1995 and November 16, 1995.

Even if the letter of November 16, 1995 contained sufficient facts to qualify as a notice of claim, the Banfords did not file their notice of claim with the governing body of Kaysville City. U.C.A. § 10-1-104(2) defines the governing body as “collectively the legislative body and executive of any municipality.” Subsection (2)(b) defines the governing body of a city of the third class as the City Council.

Banfords’ argument that because the definition of “governing body” is not specified in the Governmental Immunity Act excuses their non-compliance has been specifically

rejected by the Utah Supreme Court and this court. In Larson v. Park City Corp., 955 P.2d 343 (Utah 1998), the court stated:

The Act clearly provides that the notice of claim must be filed with the “governing body” of a political subdivision. Unfortunately, the term “governing body” is not defined within the Act itself. However, the term “governing body” is defined in the general provisions of the Utah Code dealing with cities and towns, known as the Utah Municipal Code. Utah Code Ann. §§ 10-1-101 through 10-15-6. Subsection -104(2) defines “governing body” as follows:

“Governing body” means collectively the legislative body and the executive of any municipality. Unless otherwise provided:

- (a) In cities of the first and second class, the governing body is the city commission;
- (b) In cities of the third class, the governing body is the city council[.]

Utah Code Ann. § 10-1-104(2) (1996). Furthermore, section 10-3-105 states:

The governing body of cities of the third class shall be a council composed of six members one of whom shall be the mayor and the remaining five shall be councilmen.

Utah Code Ann. § 10-3-105 (1996). Therefore, Larson was required to file her notice of claim with the city council because Park City is a city of the third class.

Larson, 955 P.2d at 345.

Similarly, in Bellonio v. Salt Lake City, 911 P.2d 1294, 1296 n.2 (Utah App. 1999), this court specified that Title 10 governs the definition of governing body.

In this case, the governing body of Kaysville is the mayor and city council. U.C.A. § 10-1-104(2). Letters “to whom it may concern” or to Dean Storey, the city finance director, do not constitute service upon the governing body of Kaysville City.

Clearly acknowledging insufficient service, plaintiffs attempt to excuse their lack of compliance with the mandatory requirements of the Utah Governmental Immunity Act, § 63-30-14, by raising several arguments that have been repeatedly rejected by Utah appellate courts. Plaintiffs' specific arguments are discussed below.

D. Actual Knowledge of the Claim by City or Its Insurance Carrier Does Not Salvage a Defective Notice of Claim.

Plaintiffs argue that because defendants' mayor, city finance director and insurance company had actual knowledge of the claim through phone conversations with plaintiff Joanna Banford, her lawyer and her friend, the purposes of the Act have been met. In Busch v. Salt Lake International Airport, 921 P.2d 470 (Utah App. 1996), the court specifically held that knowledge of the claim on the part of the city risk manager, attorney or insurance company does not validate improper service. As the court stated in Busch v. Salt Lake International Airport, 921 P.2d 470 (Utah App. 1996):

The Governmental Immunity Act serves two important purposes. First, it affords the responsible public authorities an opportunity to investigate, settle, or deny a claim without expending public revenue for costly and unnecessary litigation. Brittain, 882 P.2d at 671. Also, compliance with the Governmental Immunity Act provides an opportunity to those vested with authority to remedy a dangerous condition so that further damage or injury can be avoided. Scars v. Southworth, 563 P.2d 192, 193 (Utah 1977). The city recorder and city attorney are not members of the governing body. Bellonio, 911 P.2d at 1296. Unless specifically authorized by the governing body, neither has the power to settle a claim or to remedy a dangerous condition.

We conclude that the first notice of claim served upon the city recorder and the city attorney was not sufficient to give notice of the claim to the governing body of Salt Lake City. To provide notice to the governing body of

a city under the Governmental Immunity Act, a notice of claim must be served upon the mayor or city council

Id. at 472.

Therefore, knowledge of the claim by the city finance director, the mayor and Reliance Insurance is irrelevant. Defective service of the notice of claim is jurisdictional and defendants have no duty to point out those deficiencies during settlement negotiations. Accordingly, this court should hold that it lacks jurisdiction as a matter of law. Indeed, any other holding would vitiate the notice of claim provision. Knowledge, however remote, of a potential claim by any city official could constitute notice under plaintiffs' argument. The reason that the court has repeatedly rejected this argument is precisely because of the lack of certainty and confusion such a drastic departure from precedence such a decision would cause. This court should reject plaintiffs' attempts to resurrect the "actual notice cures a defective notice of claim" argument.

E. Kaysville and Reliance Insurance Did Not Waive Compliance with the Governmental Immunity Act and Are Not Estopped to Assert Jurisdiction and Limitations as a Defense.

The Banfords have apparently argued that the verbal and written responses from Kaysville City and Reliance Insurance constitute waiver or estoppel to deny the claim. Utah courts have been reluctant to apply estoppel analysis to notices of claims. As recently as this year, the court rejected a claim of estoppel in Shunk v. State, 924 P.2d 879 (Utah 1996). In Shunk, the court rejected plaintiff's estoppel argument by holding that estoppel applies only when an agency of the state (or political subdivision) gives erroneous information to a

claimant which prevented her from timely filing a proper Notice of Claim. In the Shunk case, the plaintiff failed to properly serve the notice of claim on the proper authorities. The defendants simply did not notify plaintiff of the deficient notice. The court further stated:

Shunk points out, however that the notice of claim which he filed with the state department of education and the attorney general contained a request for assistance in the event that Shunk had not notified the proper governmental entity. Where the statutes are clear, as in this case, as to the requirement that for serving a notice on a political subdivision, we cannot require and the statutes do not require that the state or its political subdivisions promptly notify claimants of deficiencies of the notice of claim so as to allow them an opportunity to timely rectify their error or deficiency.

Id. at 882.

Thus, the Banfords' argument that Kaysville has waived or is estopped to assert deficiencies is unavailing in light of the express language of this recent, unanimous decision of the Utah Supreme Court.

Additionally, counsel cannot blame his failure to follow the statute on Kaysville. Indeed, in this case, the first letter of July 1995 from Plaintiffs' attorney specifically asked for information regarding the city's insurance carrier and stated "[p]lease have a representative of your insurance company contact us as soon as possible but no later than thirty days from the date of this letter. This will eliminate the need for us to contact you further." Apparently, no further communication was planned with Kaysville. Storey's response did nothing to mislead counsel or otherwise validate this letter as a notice of claim. The response did not admit liability. Plaintiffs' argument that "please contact me as the city repre-

sentative” somehow misled them into filing a defective notice of claim is merit less. Storey did not say, “please file your notice of claim with me.”

After apparently unsuccessful negotiations with Reliance, plaintiffs’ counsel sent another letter to Storey. It is this letter that plaintiffs now claim is their notice of claim. The letter of November 16 is hardly a notice of claim. The letter states “[m]y purpose in contacting you directly is to obtain some help with your insurance company.” Moreover, in the letter, Mr. Sondgeroth then goes on to complain about the treatment his client had received from Mr. Clay Stevens. Additionally, the letter states:

My letter is a direct result of this behavior on his part . . . please advise whether you can help my clients gain a better attitude from your insurance provider. I sincerely hope that we can work together to minimize this conflict and obtain appropriate compensation for the injuries that have occurred. The process so far has been quite intolerable.

The letter was not intended to be a notice of claim. In fact, this is hardly the type of letter one would write about a claims agent who allegedly accepted liability for the accident on behalf of Kaysville. It certainly does not indicate that Reliance lulled plaintiff or her attorney into a false sense of complacency as is required by Rice for estoppel to apply.

Rice v. Granite School District, 456 P.2d 159 (Utah 1969), involved an unrepresented woman who was actively led to believe that she did not need counsel and that her claim had been accepted. In this case, the Banfords had counsel for at least seven months prior to the filing of their alleged notice of claim. The notice of claim simply is deficient. No amount of good faith negotiation or discussions regarding medical records can constitute waiver or



estoppel. To hold otherwise would bar efforts to settle cases early on if there was any question as to the validity of a notice of claim. Moreover, the exhibits to plaintiffs' memorandum do not demonstrate any active effort to mislead. Unlike the plaintiff in Rice, the Banfords were represented by counsel who presumably can read the clear and unambiguous language of the statute. Reliance is under no obligation to point out deficiencies in the notice. Shunk v. State, 924 P.2d 879, 882 (Utah 1996).

Courts have routinely held that mere communication with counsel while the statute is running, without some active effort to mislead the plaintiffs into a false sense of complacency, does not create an estoppel.

In Lund v. Hall, 938 P.2d 285 (Utah 1997), the plaintiff filed an action after the statute of limitations had expired. Relying upon Rice v. Granite School District, 23 Utah 2d, 22, 456 P.2d 159 (1969), the principal case the Banfords cite in support of their claims, Lund argued that defendants should be estopped to argue statute of limitations because "she was involved in on-going settlement negotiations with State Farm 'immediately prior to the expiration of the statute of limitations and that State Farm had not provided her with notice of the running of the statute of limitations as required by law.'" Lund v. Hall, 938 P.2d at 288. The court rejected the argument holding that there was nothing in the letter that led the plaintiff to sit on her rights. Moreover the court distinguished Rice by stating, ". . . unlike the plaintiff in Rice, Lund was represented by an attorney prior to the time she received the letter from State Farm." Lund, 938 P.2d at 288.

Bischel v. Meritt, 907 P.2d 275 (Utah App. 1995) is also inapplicable to the facts of this case. The plaintiff in Bischel phoned the Salt Lake County Commission and was given erroneous information on where to file her notice of claim. Bischel is distinguishable because the defendant providing misleading information resulting in defective service of the notice of claim.

In this case there is no evidence of false or intentionally misleading information. Statements such as “contact me as the city’s representative” by Kaysville’s Storey or “I am now handling the case” by Reliance’s Letisa Mckenzie do not provide any false information that would lead a reasonable attorney to believe that compliance with the statute has been waived. Plaintiffs’ attempt to construe statements regarding a desire to settle or vague comments that the Banfords “would be taken care of” as creating an estoppel simply do not meet the necessary level of evidence necessary to create disputed issues of fact.

Accordingly, Kaysville is not estopped to assert lack of jurisdiction. There is no evidence that anyone from Kaysville provided any false information to the Banfords or their counsel regarding the notice of claim. Neither Kaysville nor Reliance was under any obligation to notify plaintiffs or their counsel of the deficiency in the notice of claim. Shunk v. State, 924 P.2d 879, 882 (Utah 1996). Indeed, the letter of November 16, 1995 diverged so far from the standard notice of claim that someone receiving the letter may not even have realized it was a notice of claim. Accordingly, the facts as alleged by plaintiffs, even if taken

as true, do not give rise to a material disputed issue of fact to support a claim of estoppel. This court should affirm the judgment of dismissal.

## **POINT II**

### **PLAINTIFFS' LAWSUIT IS UNTIMELY**

Although not decided by the trial court in its ruling, this court can affirm the trial court's ruling on other grounds, even though the trial court relied on some other ground. Debry v. Noble, 889 P.2d 428, 444 (Utah 1995). The untimeliness of plaintiffs' suit is an additional ground affirming the Order of Dismissal.

Utah Code Annotated § 63-30-14 provides that a governmental entity has ninety days to act upon a notice of claim or it is deemed denied. U.C.A. § 63-30-15 provides that a claimant must file an action against the governmental entity within one year after the claim is denied or the action is barred. If the July 12, 1995 letter is deemed to be plaintiffs' notice of claim, plaintiffs' suit filed February 18, 1997, is clearly untimely. Thus, in order for the timing to be relevant, this court would have to accept the letter of November 16, 1995, as a valid notice of claim. That notice of claim was rejected ninety days after it was served. Pursuant to U.C.A. § 63-30-15(2), plaintiffs' suit must be filed within one year of that date.

A. Plaintiffs' Claim Was Deemed Denied on February 14, 1996, and the Filing of Suit on February 18, 1997 Is Untimely Pursuant to U.C.A. § 63-30-15(2).

The Banford's suit is untimely because it was filed more than one year after it was deemed denied. It is undisputed that the letter was dated November 16, 1995. Pursuant to U.C.A. § 63-37-1, a notice of claim is deemed served on the date it is mailed or postmarked.

There is no envelope and therefore the court found in its original ruling that the letter was mailed the date it was signed, November 16, 1995. At no point was the claim accepted or rejected in writing and the claim was therefore deemed denied ninety days thereafter. Pursuant to U.C.A. § 68-3-7, the claim was deemed denied on February 14, 1996. Plaintiffs did not file this action until Tuesday, February 18, 1997, more than one year after the claim was deemed denied. The savings provisions for weekends and holidays does not apply to this case because February 14, 1997 was a Friday. Thus, if the November 16, 1995, letter is a validly served notice of claim, the action is time barred for failure to file within one year after it was deemed denied as mandated by Utah Code Annotated Section 63-30-15. Plaintiffs' complaint was therefore barred by the statute of limitations.

Plaintiff's claims that Rule 6, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure which provides a three day period for mailing and therefore saves their case. The provision of Rule 6 does not apply when more specific provisions are contained in the code, Maverick Country Stores v. Industrial Commission, 860 P.2d 944 (Utah App. 1993) (U.R.C.P., Rule 6(e), three-day mailing provision, does not apply to time period to file an appeal of industrial commission order).

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